Summary

· This archaeological assessment has been prepared for Gray & Adams Doncaster Ltd., in respect of a proposed residential development on land off York Road and Pipering Lane West, Scawthorpe, near Doncaster, South Yorkshire. It has been prepared in accordance with recommendations made by South Yorkshire Council, and will form the basis for a decision-making process that will consider the interests of the developer, while seeking to protect potentially vulnerable archaeological resources.

· The site lies c. 200m from a major Roman road, and within an area characterised by Iron Age/Romano-British cropmarks.
· From the medieval period until the mid 20th century, the site was agricultural land, initially within an open field, and as privately owned fields after enclosure: small scale quarrying may have taken place in the 19th century.
· This study has not identified any known remains or potential remains to preclude development, and the potential of the site is considered to be low: there is a limited possibility that some Iron Age/Romano-British field system boundaries will survive, where not truncated by modern development, but remains of greater significance are not anticipated. No further evaluation works are recommended in support of any application for redevelopment of the site.
· The limited archaeological potential of the site can be safeguarded by an appropriate scheme of works during development to preserve by record any remains exposed. This can be secured by the acceptance of a standard negative condition based on the model in PPG 16, para. 30, or by a Section S.106 agreement.
[image: image1.jpg]> L
Cuswgri}ﬁ’ark Ml
Country Park .






1.0 
Introduction
This desk-based assessment was commissioned by Gray & Adams. Its purpose is to assess the archaeological potential of an area of land on the west side of York Road, in Scawthorpe, near Doncaster, South Yorkshire, without the use of intrusive methods, and to calculate the likely impact on any deposits of archaeological significance of a conversion from an industrial business site to a residential development.

2.0 
Location and description (figs. 1 and 2)

Modern Scawthorpe is part of a loose conurbation with Bentley, Arksey and Scawsby, forming a group of suburbs of Doncaster on the north side of the River Don. Scawthorpe has never been a parish in its own right: it was originally a secondary settlement in Arksey parish, and was later included in the township of Bentley with Arksey. It is situated at the junction of two historical major transport routes with a modern one: the Roman road north-westward from the fort at Doncaster, this stretch of which is no longer in use; the medieval ‘saltway’ or ‘saltergate’ via which salt was brought across the Pennines to Doncaster from the main medieval production sites in Cheshire, now overlain by the A635 (Hey, 1979, p. 61), and the modern A638.
The proposed development site lies on the east side of York Road (A638), on the south side of the junction between York Road and Pipering Lane West. The site is 2.5ha in area, of which the premises of Gray & Adams comprises 1.9ha: the remaining area is occupied by two other businesses, Hulleys & MAS Food and Warners Fish Merchants, which also propose to relocate, freeing the entire site for residential redevelopment (Gray & Adams, 2007).
The drift geology of the area consists of First Terrace sand deposits, but the drift probably does not extend across the entire site, which lies on or close to its edge. The underlying solid geology is Upper Magnesian Limestone, which is likely to be exposed on the west side of the site, with no overlying drift (British Geological Survey, 1969). 

Central National Grid Reference: SE 55230 05340.

3.0
Objectives and methods
The purpose of this report is to evaluate the probability that archaeological remains vulnerable to groundworks associated with a proposed development are present on the site; to assess their potential significance and the extent to which construction works are likely to affect them, and, if necessary, to suggest methods by which the site may be evaluated in advance of such works, or by which such works can be mitigated to minimise the impact to any surviving archaeological remains.

The report is based on information derived from a variety of sources: -

The County Sites and Monuments Record for South Yorkshire

Records held by the South Yorkshire Archives Office (Doncaster)
Aerial photographs held by the National Monuments Record
Published and unpublished material held by Pre-Construct Archaeology (Lincoln)
A site visit by the author

4.0
Planning background
A planning application is being considered for a residential development on land presently occupied by the business premises of Gray & Adams (Doncaster) Ltd. off York Road and Pipering Lane, near Doncaster, South Yorkshire. This report will be submitted in support of this application in due course.

5.0 
General archaeological and historical background (fig. 3)
The South Yorkshire Sites and Monuments Record does not list any known sites pre-dating the Iron Age within the study area (a radius of 1km from the central National Grid Reference point), and only two findspots: a Neolithic or Bronze Age flint scraper found in a garden on the south edge of the study area (SMR ref. 1290), and a fragment of a Neolithic stone axe from its south-west edge (SMR ref. 3436). 
The study area was certainly inhabited and farmed from the Iron Age onwards. Aerial photography has identified numerous crop-marks around the study area: five of which have been dated to the Iron Age/Romano-British period. Three groups of cropmarks, comprising enclosures and possible tracks or lanes, lie to the north-west of the site near the edge of the study area (SMR refs. 61, 62 and 63); a cropmark closer to the site, possibly representing two enclosures, has only tentatively been ascribed to the period (SMR ref. 4016). A larger complex of cropmarks, representing an Iron Age/Romano-British settlement with several enclosures and possible hut circles, was recorded c. 550m to the north-east of the site, but has subsequently been partially destroyed by development (SMR ref. 64). On the southern edge of the study area, an extensive area of Iron Age/Romano-British crop-marks, apparently the remains of a field system, have also now been partially developed (SMR ref. 2454).
The Don valley was occupied and fortified relatively early in the Roman period. The course of a Roman road, locally known as ‘Roman Ridge’ runs c. 200m to the south-west of the site (SMR ref. 1018). This is part of the military road from the fort at Doncaster to the fort at Tadcaster. Margary’s survey of Roman roads, compiled in the 1950s, describes the Roman Ridge as ‘upon an independent course, followed by a footpath, and appearing as an agger of large size, 36 feet wide and 3-4 feet high’. At the time of the survey, some 3 miles of the Roman Ridge were still exposed (Margary, 1957, p. 146). The great size of the surviving agger – other stretches of the Doncaster-Tadcaster road are recorded as up to 60 feet wide and 6 feet high – indicate that it was one of the most important routes of colonial Britain.
The extent to which the Roman Ridge was used during Roman imperial rule is shown by the number of finds of coins in the study area – seven individual coins and two hoards – suggesting a roadside settlement or trading post, the equivalent of a motorway service station. The settlement itself was partially uncovered by a recent scheme of archaeological works carried out on a site to the north of Long Edge Quarry, which lies across the northern edge of the study area. A desk-based assessment and a geophysical survey were followed by an evaluation, which exposed a double-ditched trackway and a substantial Romano-British settlement. The trackway pre-dated the settlement, and may have represented a prehistoric route superseded by the Roman road. The settlement comprised both a residential area, with finds of coins, loom weights, and iron nails and joiner’s dogs indicating the presence of timber structures in a Roman style, and an industrial area, with kilns and evidence of ironworking (Bishop, 2004). Indications of a Roman cemetery site were uncovered during construction work on the south side of the A635: a cremation in a lid-seated jar, probably dating to the 2nd century AD, and an inhumation burial were encountered (SMR ref. 1820).
The place-name ‘Scawthorpe’, which first appears in a document of 1317, is believed to derive from the Old Norse personal name Skuli with the Scandinavian element thorp ‘secondary settlement, dependent farmstead or hamlet’ (Smith, 1961, p. 26). It is one of a group of Danish place-names, eight of which end in -thorpe, in the wapentake of Lower Strafforth, indicating an area of Danish settlement probably dating to the last quarter of the 9th century AD (Smith, 1962, pp. 53-54). Scawthorpe was probably a satellite settlement of Arksey or Bentley: neighbouring Scawsby, which first appears in Domesday Book, initially seems the more plausible candidate, but place-name studies do not support this connection, deriving ‘Scawsby’ from the Old Norse by-name Skald (ibid., p. 72). Apart from the place-names themselves, there is no evidence for Dark Age/early medieval settlement within the study area. Following the end of Roman imperial rule, when the roads largely fell into disuse, their aggers formed convenient boundary banks, and were often used as such by Saxon and Scandinavian landholders (Margary, 1955, pp. 14-17): in the study area, the Roman Ridge marks the boundary of Arksey parish, later the township of Bentley with Arksey, and it is likely that early post-Roman settlement remained near the centre of the landholding or estate.
There is no record of Scawthorpe in the Domesday Survey of AD 1086. With the exception of a small amount of arable land in Bentley, both Bentley and Scawsby lay within the lands of Roger de Bully: it seems most likely that the site formed part of the Bentley estate, as both lie on the same side of the Roman Ridge. The estate comprised arable land, meadow land and woodland pasture, and supported a population of 14 households: no buildings or industries are listed (Williams and Martin, 1992, p. 831).
Scawsby was briefly prosperous enough to have a weekly market, but it was so ephemeral that its location can no longer be identified (Hey, 1979, p. 66). In 1379, a population of 27 adults was recorded in Scawsby, but the medieval village is now marked only by the 17th century hall (ibid., p. 77): the earthwork traces of the village itself are recorded around the hall (SMR ref. 452). On the south edge of the study area lie the earthworks of the Shrunken Medieval Village of Cusworth: a series of earthwork and buried remains in a paddock, including a headland, the remains of a stone wall, and three linear crofts, one of which contains a probable building platform. Cusworth Hall was built in 1669, and it seems likely that the medieval village was partially cleared to make way for a landscape park and estate village in the late 17th-early 18th century (SMR ref. 455). There are no known remains for the medieval settlement of Scawthorpe, nor could any documentary references to it be found.
Although many archaeological projects have been carried out in the region of Arksey, Brodsworth and Adwick, very few of these fall within the study area. Apart from the scheme of works that exposed the Romano-British settlement near Long Edge Quarry, only two other projects are known to the SMR. An archaeological evaluation was carried out prior to development on land to the south of Langthwaite Lane, on the northern edge of the study area. Three trenches were opened, but no archaeological material of any kind was encountered (Atkinson, S., 1992) – the find of a Roman coin, located in this area as SMR ref. 1072, is unrelated to this project.

An archaeological watching brief took place on a playing field 500m to the south-west of the study area, prompted by the earlier discovery of two burials, believed to be Roman, in the area (SMR ref. 1820). No further burials were encountered; nor were any other archaeological deposits (WYAS, 2005).

6.0
Site-specific search/investigation results

6.1
Documentary information (figs. 4-11) 
The main enclosure award for Arksey parish dates from 1830 (fig. 4). There had already been an Act of Enclosure in 1759, which enclosed waste and common land, and so an unusually large part of the parish appears on this map as old enclosures, coloured blue. The eastern edge of the site overlaps the previously enclosed area, but lies chiefly within the new enclosures. The Great North Road between Doncaster and Boroughbridge, of which the modern York Road is a section, had been a turnpike road since the mid-18th century: a Turnpike Trust was established in 1741, to collect tolls from travellers along its particular section of road, and maintain the road from the profits (Albert, 1972, p. 48). The York Bar turnpike gates, which appear on the enclosure award plan near the bottom of the reproduced extract, remained in situ until 1880 (Webster, 1972, p. 88).
The Doncaster Archives also hold the surveyors’ drafts for the 1830 enclosure, drawn at approximately twice the scale of the finished plan on numerous individual sheets, with many pencilled notes that are no longer legible, and columns of figures being added up within the surveyed fields. A composite of three of these drawings is reproduced as figure 5. ‘Pipering Lane Road’ is shown with broken lines overtraced in red, with the handwritten note ‘follow this Lane’, probably indicating that it was to be upgraded. The fields to the north and west of the site contain numerous narrow, parallel broken lines, which seem to indicate the positions and orientation of the furlongs of the medieval open fields, which the enclosures were to obliterate: some of these have the characteristic open S-curve of ridge-and-furrow ploughing. The area of the site is also marked out with broken lines, but these are in a more irregular pattern, and it is unclear what they represent. It seems most likely that the site was originally part of the Amersall Field, encroached on by the first phase of enclosures, and that the irregular dotted lines indicate changes in agricultural activity caused by the remnant of this part of the field now being too short to plough a full furlong.
The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map of 1851 still names the open fields, although they are shown as enclosed (fig. 6). Scawthorpe Farm and its outbuildings now appear to represent the entire settlement of Scawthorpe. The field pattern around the site has changed again since the Parliamentary Enclosures: the site now lies across the boundary between two large fields, with no sign of the old enclosures that its east end previously intersected. Several features are shown on the site itself: a row of four irregular shapes near the centre, running roughly parallel to the field boundary, and a small rectangle on the northern edge, adjacent to Pipering Lane. This last may represent an agricultural building, such as a barn or shed (a residential or public building would have been shaded). The nature of the four features in the centre of the site can only be guessed at, as they are too irregular to be buildings. A field at the south end of Broad Axe Field, to the south of the site, contains a similar row of four features, larger than those on the site: the shading of these indicates that they may be pits. Limestone was certainly being quarried in the area – quarries are labelled on both the northern and southern edges of the map extract – and it is possible that these features are a series of quarry-pits. At the bottom of the map extract, a ‘Direction Post’ is marked. This Grade II listed late 19th century milepost is the only listed structure within the study area (DoE, 1988).
By the early 1890s, the row of possible pits no longer appeared on Ordnance Survey maps, although two of the comparable features remained at the bottom of Broad Axe Field, and the more detailed 1:2500 map appears to confirm the interpretation of these features as pits (fig. 7). The pattern of field boundaries remained the same, with a single boundary dividing the site from east-north-east to west-south-west. The single farm to which Scawthorpe had been reduced in the mid 19th century has now been joined by Scawthorpe Grange and Scawthorpe Lodge, while urban development is beginning to move westward from the edge of Bentley. The local landscape was unchanged at the beginning of the 20th century (fig. 8).
Only a small extract from the 1930 1:2500 scale OS map was available, and this shows the immediate area of the site unchanged since 1893. However, development was encroaching on Scawthorpe during this period. The 1948 6" OS map shows development accumulating around the 19th century hamlet, while the development extending from Bentley has spread up the York Road (here still referred to as the Great North Road) as far northward as the site itself, although it is still confined to the opposite side of the road, and appears to have been newly laid out and not yet completed; the name ‘Sunnyfields’, redolent of suburbia, has been attached to the area (fig. 9).
The 1955-56 6" OS map shows the development of Scawthorpe and ‘Sunnyfields’ extending and intensifying: the distinctive annular street layout to the north of the site is under construction, while the area directly to the west, on the far side of the Great North Road, is now complete. The two fields containing the site are still shown as undeveloped on the 1955-56 map, but development was proceeding rapidly, and the 1959 1:1250 OS map shows the first building on the site. This is a large structure, labelled ‘Depot’, in the north-western corner of the site, and is almost certainly the brick building now occupied by Hulleys & MAS Foods. Development is closing in around the site from Bentley: Stonehill Rise, on the east side of the site, is now laid out and partially built-up, although the triangular house plot at the north-eastern corner of the site remains empty (fig. 10).
The name ‘Sunnyfields’ is still being applied to the area of the site on the 1966 6" OS map (and remains so to the present day), although the main development to the north and east is now labelled ‘Scawthorpe’ (fig. 11). At this point, the site still lay within a strip of open land alongside the Great North Road, and development directly to the east remained sparse. By the beginning of the 1970s, development had closed in around the site: Stonehill Rise is now completely infilled, and the north-eastern house plot is occupied. The 1968-71 1:2500 OS map shows two further buildings on the site: one on the north side is in the position of the current Warners Fish premises, while the other appears to be the oldest of the Gray & Adams buildings.

The Kelly’s Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire for 1904 has no separate entry for Scawthorpe, but the entry for Bentley lists Scawthorpe along with Bodles and Doncaster Bridge End as ‘hamlets in the parish’. Only one resident is listed: a Mr. Elwess, who appears as the inhabitant of Scawthorpe Grange, and again in the commercial section as a farmer (Kelly, 1904, p. 100), although early 20th century Scawthorpe did contain two or three other buildings. The Kelly’s Directory for 1912 has identical entries, again listed as part of Bentley, but with an additional resident: Mr. Pawson, the inhabitant of Scawthorpe Hall (Kelly, 1912, p. 109).

6.2 Aerial photographs
The National Monuments Record carried out a priority cover search, finding 11 specialist oblique images, no military oblique images, and 117 vertical images within the study area: the details of these appear in full in appendix 3. Copies of vertical shots 4145, 53 and 96 were requested, and are reproduced as figs. 12, 13 and 14; none of the oblique shots proved to be relevant.
Figure 12 dates from July, 1948: the photograph is of poor quality, but the Great North Road and the course of the Roman Ridge can be seen. The site is still lying among fields, although development is in progress on the opposite side of the Great North Road, and is further advanced than the OS map of the same date (fig. 9) indicates. The only feature visible on the site is the east-north-east to west-south-west running field boundary.

Figure 13 dates from September, 1956: comparison with the OS map of this date (fig. 10) shows that development was again running ahead of cartography. The course of Stonehill Rise, to the east of the site, has been laid out, but construction work has scarcely begun to move south of the Pipering Lane junction. The field boundary dividing the site is distinct; both fields appear to be under an arable crop. A darker patch to the north of the field boundary may possibly mark the position of the row of pits shown on the 1st edition OS map.
The most recent aerial photograph dates from May, 1971 (fig. 14). Development in the general area is now close to present-day levels, but the footpath following the Roman Ridge can still be seen, running in a straight line through the housing estates to the south-west of the site. The most striking feature of this shot is a bright white strip running along the east side of York Road, where this stretch of the A638 is being converted to dual carriageway, appearing to confirm that the solid Upper Magnesian Limestone has no overlying drift geology on this side of the site. On the site itself, the two bays of the brick Hulleys & MAS building can clearly be seen, and the Warners building and part of the Gray & Adams complex are also standing. The Gray & Adams site was in use by a firm called ‘York Trailers’ at this time (Nicholls Colton Geotechnical, 2007); containers or trailers can be seen around it, and much of the site is covered with asphalt or hard-standing. Stonehill Rise is now fully built-up, but development to the south of the site is not yet complete: the telephone exchange building appears to be under construction.
6.3 
Site visit 

A site visit was made by the author on 7th March 2007, for the purpose of recording the present appearance and environs of the proposed development site. A colour photographic record was maintained, extracts from which appear in Appendix 1.

The site occupies the full length of the south side of Pipering Lane West, with York Road (the A638) forming its western boundary. York Road is embanked to a height of c. 1.5m above the western edge of the site (plates 1 and 2), and the west end of Pipering Lane West is also above site ground level, which rises slightly towards the east. The buildings on the far side of York Road – mid 20th century semi-detached houses, first appearing on the 1955-56 OS map – also lie below the level of the road. To south and east, the site is at the same level as the surrounding land; with the exception of the brick telephone exchange building, the site is bordered by mid- to late 20th century housing, largely bungalows, on both sides. The north side of Pipering Lane West is occupied by a playing field.

The site is entirely under asphalt, except for a strip along the eastern edge. Against the eastern site boundary is a belt of deciduous trees 16m wide: the trees are well-grown, with some undergrowth of elder, and patchy ground cover of brambles, nettles, cow-parsley and ivy (plate 4). Although some of the trees appear to be mature, they do not appear on the 1971 aerial photograph (fig. 14), and so post-date the development of the site: they were probably planted to reduce noise to the residential development bordering the site to the east. Adjacent to the belt of trees is a strip of compacted hardcore 22m wide, used for the parking of lorry trailers.
The premises of the three businesses are individually accessed from Pipering Lane West (fig. 2). The main buildings of the Gray & Adams site are on the southern side of the site (marked ‘Works’ on fig. 2), and comprise a complex of several portal frame buildings, clad in sheet metal and corrugated asbestos, with a single-storey brick reception building on the south-west side (plates 2 and 3). Another portal frame building is sited near the entrance. The open space surrounding these buildings is largely used for parking of lorry tractors and trailers, and for general storage (plate 5).
The north-east corner of the site is occupied by the premises of Hulleys & MAS Foods (labelled ‘Depot’ on fig. 2). The core of these premises is a large, two-bayed brick building with a corrugated asbestos roof, which appears older than the neighbouring buildings, and is probably the original building shown on the 1959 OS map (fig. 10); several 1- and 2-storey brick extensions are appended to it (plate 6). To the east of this building, separated from it by a strip used by the Gray & Adams site for car parking, are the premises of Warners Fish (also labelled ‘Depot’ on fig. 2), a low portal frame building clad in sheet metal, with a single-storey brick reception area facing on to Pipering Lane West (plate 7). The Warners Fish site is raised at the south side, stepping up from the level of the Gray & Adams site to bring it level with the surface of Pipering Lane West.
Attached to the north-east corner of the site is a triangular plot, containing a bungalow, in brown brick with a concrete tile roof, facing the junction of Pipering Lane West and Stonehill Rise (plate 8). This bungalow forms part of the mid- to late 20th century development along Stonehill Rise, and first appears on the 1968-71 OS map, although much of the development in this area is earlier.
7.0
Assessment of archaeological potential

The evidence of activity within the study area prior to the Iron Age is minimal. The 2004 evaluation to the north of Long Edge Quarry encountered a Neolithic to Bronze Age pit alignment (Bishop, 2004), but this lay outside the radius of the study area, on higher ground outside the Don valley. The two finds of stone artefacts suggest that the immediate area of the site may have been visited for purposes such as hunting, but not continuously inhabited. The archaeological potential of the site for the Stone and Bronze Ages is consequently assessed to be low.
The study area was certainly inhabited and widely exploited during the Iron Age and the Roman occupation. Part of a Romano-British settlement has been located – again, on higher ground above the spring line – and cropmarks on three sides of the study area indicate both agriculture and possible habitation, while two burials found to the south of the site have been interpreted as part of a Roman cemetery. No cropmarks have been identified on or near the site, but the programme of archaeological works at Long Edge Quarry interpreted the trackway and enclosure found by the geophysical survey as being associated with a known cropmark complex to the north of that site (Buglass, 2003), indicating that cropmarks visible in the study area may be only part of a surviving landscape. The possibility that the site may contain previously unobserved archaeological features from this period is consequently assessed as low to moderate. However, such features are likely to comprise field systems rather than settlement remains, associated either with the Long Edge Quarry settlement or with the putative settlement to the north-east of the site (SMR ref. 64), and so to be of relatively low density and limited archaeological significance: it is notable that no finds were recorded during the construction of the buildings on site or the neighbouring telephone exchange, although this work took place in the 1960s and 1970s, when it was reasonably likely that any finds would have been made known to the SMR.
No archaeological evidence has been recorded in the study area for the period between the collapse of Roman imperial rule and the Norman Conquest. During the majority of the medieval period, the site appears to have lain within an open field, probably pertaining to Bentley: it would have been communally worked in strips allocated to the residents of the parish, and this form of agriculture would have continued until at least the first phase of enclosures in the 18th century. The possibility of significant medieval remains being present is consequently low.
The enclosure surveyors’ plans indicate that some form of strip cultivation continued over much of the site until the Parliamentary Enclosures of 1830. Thereafter, the immediate area of the site continued to be used as agricultural land until it was developed for housing and business use in the mid 20th century. It is also possible that part of the site was quarried for limestone. The archaeological potential of the site for the industrial period is consequently low: only back-filled quarry pits and field boundaries already documented on maps and aerial photographs are likely to be encountered.
8.0
Impact on archaeological resources

The standing buildings on the site are all steel-framed (Nicholls Colton Geotechnical, 2007), and can be expected to have had only a limited impact on any underlying archaeological remains, as such buildings stand on individual stanchions rather than full-footprint foundations. However, some levelling is known to have taken place in the north-east corner of the site, in order to create more parking space for Gray & Adams (Nicholls Colton Geotechnical, 2007), and the change in ground level at the edge of the Warners site indicates that levelling may have taken place on the north-west of the site as well. Prior to development, aerial photographs show the site to have been arable land, and to have been under the plough up to the end of the 1960s: deep modern ploughing may also have caused some damage to any buried remains. If the features appearing on the 1st edition OS map have been correctly identified as quarry pits, these will also have caused disturbance to the potential archaeological record, although they cover a relatively small area of the site.
The groundworks associated with a residential development will involve trenching for foundations, and re-routing and/or extension of services such as mains water and sewage. Any sub-surface archaeological deposits or features that have survived previous construction works are likely to be truncated by such groundworks.

9.0
Mitigation

The likelihood of encountering significant archaeological remains of any period outside the Iron Age/Romano-British on the proposed development site is assessed as being low. While it is possible that the proposed groundworks will encounter Iron Age or Romano-British remains, it is unlikely that these will comprise anything other than field boundary ditches, whose archaeological potential is generally limited. Consequently, no further archaeological intervention is recommended prior to determination of any planning application. 
The limited archaeological potential of the site can be safeguarded by an appropriate scheme of works during development to preserve by record any remains exposed. This can be secured by the acceptance of a standard negative condition based on the model in PPG 16, para. 30, or by a Section S.106 agreement.
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Figure 1: General location map at scale 1:25 000. The position of the proposed development site is shown in red. (O.S. copyright licence no. AL 515 21 A0001)
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